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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

__________________________________________ 
       ) 
ING BANK, FSB     )       
       ) 
       ) 
  Plaintiff,    ) 
       ) 
 v.      ) Civil Action No.______________ 
       )  
LBS INNOVATIONS, LLC    ) 
       ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
  Defendant.    ) 
__________________________________________) 
 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT 

Plaintiff ING Bank, fsb (“ING Bank”) files this Complaint for Declaratory Judgment 

(“Complaint”).  ING Bank seeks declaratory relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, 

declaring United States Patent No. 6,091,956 to be not infringed and to be invalid and/or 

unenforceable.   

PARTIES 

1. ING Bank is a federally chartered savings bank located at One South Orange 

Street, Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaware, 19801. 

2. Defendant LBS Innovations LLC (“LBSI Texas”) is a Texas Limited Liability 

Company which claims to have its principal place of business at 815 Brazos Street, Suite 500, 

Austin, Texas 78701. 
 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

3. This Court has original subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331,  

1338, 2201 and 2202. 

4. As set forth in more detail below, LBSI Texas is subject to personal jurisdiction in 

this District.  LBSI Texas is the successor-in-interest to a New Jersey Limited Liability Company 
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with an identical business name (“LBSI New Jersey”), and upon information and belief, LBSI 

Texas retains close ties to New Jersey.  Further upon information and belief, the principals of 

LBSI Texas are the same as those of LBSI New Jersey.  In 2011, LBSI New Jersey initiated 

several patent infringement lawsuits in the Eastern District of Texas.  In February 2012, 

Microsoft Corporation filed suit against LBSI New Jersey in this District, seeking a declaratory 

judgment of invalidity and non-infringement of the same patent at stake in this action.  That 

action is captioned Microsoft v. LBS Innovations, LLC, No. 2:12-cv-00848-CCC-JAD 

(“Microsoft v. LBSI”).  Within a few days of the filing of that action, the same principals behind 

this identically named New Jersey LLC formed LBSI Texas, assigned the patent in suit to that 

entity, and then dissolved the New Jersey entity.  LBSI Texas then later filed motions to 

substitute the newly formed Texas LLC for the New Jersey LLC in these already initiated patent 

infringement lawsuits in Texas and amended its complaint in one of those cases to attempt to join 

several new defendants, including ING Direct Bancorp, Inc. (“ING Direct Bancorp”).  Upon 

information and belief, the principals of LBSI New Jersey formed LBSI Texas as a vehicle to 

facilitate forum-shopping. 

5. LBSI Texas has been joined as a defendant in Microsoft v. LBSI; significantly, in 

that case, neither LBSI New Jersey nor LBSI Texas has challenged personal jurisdiction in this 

judicial district. 

6. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §1391. 

BACKGROUND 

7. The newly formed LBSI Texas holds itself out, and is identified by the United 

States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”), as the successor-in-interest to LBSI New Jersey 

as to all right, title and interest in and to U.S. Patent Number 6,091,956 entitled “Situation 

Information System,” issued July 18, 2000 (“the ’956 patent”) to Dennis D. Hollenberg 

(“Hollenberg”).  A copy of the ’956 patent is attached as Exhibit A.  A copy of the assignment 

records available on the USPTO’s website is attached as Exhibit B. 

8. Upon information and belief, neither LBSI Texas nor LBSI New Jersey currently 

Case 2:33-av-00001   Document 15259   Filed 06/21/12   Page 2 of 9 PageID: 309406Case 2:12-cv-03809-CCC-JAD   Document 1   Filed 06/21/12   Page 2 of 92 PageID: 2



 

 3 
DM2\3609612.6 

practices, or has ever practiced, the teachings of the ’956 patent.  The only way for the principals 

of these identically-named entities to profit from their ownership of the ’956 patent is through 

licensing to third parties.  

9. Upon information and belief, ten years after the patent issued, in October 2010, 

Timothy Salmon and Daniel Mitry, along with the named inventor Hollenberg, formed LBSI 

New Jersey as a New Jersey Limited Liability Company with a principal place of business at 53 

Ramapo Mountain Drive, Wanaque, New Jersey 07465.  

10. Shortly thereafter, Hollenberg assigned the ‘956 patent to LBSI New Jersey. See 

Exhibit B. 

11. Upon information and belief, Timothy Salmon lives in Pennsylvania, Daniel 

Mitry lives in New York, and Hollenberg lives in Oregon.  

12. Upon information and belief, Mark Mitry, LBSI New Jersey’s identified 

registered agent and Daniel Mitry’s father, maintained since at least 2002, and continues to 

maintain, his permanent residence at 53 Ramapo Mountain Drive, Wanaque, New Jersey 07465, 

the address identified as LBSI New Jersey’s principal place of business.  

13. Upon information and belief, Mark Mitry has maintained a residence in New 

Jersey since at least 1986. 

14. In March of 2011, LBSI New Jersey initiated litigation in the Eastern District of 

Texas alleging infringement of its ’956 patent against sixteen defendants. 

15. In September of 2011, LBSI New Jersey filed three additional suits in the Eastern 

District of Texas alleging infringement of its ’956 patent against a total of sixteen additional 

defendants. 

16. In each of those complaints, LBSI New Jersey admitted that the state of New 

Jersey was its corporate home and principal place of business.  

17. In January of 2012, LBSI New Jersey amended its complaints in two of the three 

cases originally filed in September of 2011 in an attempt to join an additional 31 defendants to 

those cases.  
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18. Upon information and belief, in early 2012, LBSI New Jersey entered into 

settlement agreements with five defendants in the action filed in Texas in March of 2011. 

19. Upon information and belief, the principals of LBSI New Jersey (the same 

principals of the newly formed LBSI Texas) benefited financially from those settlement 

agreements. 

20. Moreover, upon information and belief, LBSI New Jersey sought protection, and 

will continue to seek protection , under the laws of New Jersey for any future enforcement of 

those settlement agreements.  

21. On February 3, 2012, LBSI New Jersey and those five defendants jointly moved 

for an order dismissing with prejudice all claims and counterclaims filed against each other.  The 

Court granted this motion on the same day.  

22. After receiving several indemnification requests arising from the Texas litigation, 

Microsoft Corporation filed a complaint (the “Microsoft Complaint”) in LBSI New Jersey’s 

home state (this District) on February 10, 2010, against LBSI New Jersey seeking declaratory 

judgment of non-infringement and invalidity of the ‘956 patent. 

23. Within four days of the filing of the Microsoft Complaint, in a transparent attempt 

to avoid the Microsoft lawsuit, the same principals of LBSI New Jersey formed a new Texas 

Limited Liability Company, namely LBSI Texas. 

24. The next day, those same principals caused LBSI New Jersey to assign its entire 

interest in the ‘956 patent to this new Texas entity and filed a certificate of cancellation for LBSI 

New Jersey.  

25. At the time LBSI New Jersey filed its certificate of cancellation with the state of 

New Jersey it was engaged in five lawsuits involving the ’956 patent: 
 

 LBS Innovations, LLC v. Aaron Bros. et al., No. 2:11-cv-00142-MHS-
CMC, Eastern District of Texas (filed in March of 2011) 
 

 LBS Innovations, LLC v. BP America, Inc. et al., No. 2:11-cv-00407-
MHS-CMC, Eastern District of Texas (filed in September of 2011) 
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 LBS Innovations, LLC v. Citgo Petroleum Corp. et al.,  No. 2:11-cv-
00408-MHS-CMC, Eastern District of Texas (filed in September of 2011) 
 

 LBS Innovations, LLC v. Sally Beauty LLC et al., No. 2:11-cv-00409-
MHS-CMC, Eastern District of Texas (filed in September of 2011) 
 

 Microsoft Inc. v. LBS Innovations, LLC No. 2:12-cv-00848-CCC-JAD, 
District of New Jersey (filed in February of 2012) 

26. On February 24, 2012, Microsoft amended the Microsoft Complaint to add LBSI 

Texas as a co-defendant. 

27. Neither LBSI Texas nor LBSI New Jersey have challenged personal jurisdiction 

in their pleadings filed in Microsoft v. LBSI.  Indeed, LBSI Texas has admitted in its pleadings 

that it has both “appeared” and “not objected to joinder” in that case.  See Exh. D, LBSI New 

Jersey and LBSI Texas’ Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction. 

28. This complaint arises from the litigation styled LBS Innovations, LLC v. Citgo 

Petroleum Corporation et al.  As identified in the paragraphs above, LBSI New Jersey filed a 

complaint in the Citgo Petroleum action in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of 

Texas on September 14, 2011 (the “Citgo Petroleum Original Complaint”).  LBSI New Jersey 

served the Citgo Petroleum Original Complaint on the two originally-named defendants, Citgo 

Petroleum Corporation and Dave & Buster’s, Inc., on February 10, 2012 and on February 13, 

2012 respectively.  

29. On or about April 2, 2012, LBS Innovations, LLC – now re-branded as LBSI 

Texas – filed an unopposed  motion to substitute parties in LBS Innovations, LLC v. Citgo 

Petroleum Corp. et al.  This motion sought to substitute LBSI Texas for LBSI New Jersey as 

Plaintiff, and the motion was granted on April 4, 2012. 

30. On or about April 27, 2012, LBSI Texas filed an Amended Complaint (the “Citgo 

Petroleum Amended Complaint”) in the Citgo Petroleum action, naming multiple additional 

defendants including ING Direct Bancorp, and alleging infringement of the ’956 patent by those 

defendants.  On or about April 30, 2012, LBSI attempted to serve ING Direct Bancorp with a 
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Summons and the Amended Complaint.  A copy of the Citgo Petroleum Amended Complaint is 

attached as Exhibit C. 

31. The Citgo Petroleum Amended Complaint alleges that ING Direct Bancorp 

infringes the ‘956 patent “by making and/or using in the United States the computer 

implemented website http://home.ingdirect.com/, which has a [sic] ATM location interface at 

https://secure.ingdirect.com/myaccount/INGDirect/atm_locate.vm.”  (Exh. C at 9-10).  

32. ING Direct Bancorp no longer conducts business, and is no longer affiliated with 

ING Bank.  Furthermore, ING Direct Bancorp did not and does not maintain, operate and own 

the website http://home.ingdirect.com/ identified as the accused instrumentality in the Citgo 

Petroleum Amended Complaint.  Instead, that website is maintained, operated and owned by 

ING Bank. 

33. Prior to February 17, 2012, ING Bank was a wholly owned subsidiary of ING 

Direct Bancorp.  As of February 17, 2012, ING Bank became a wholly owned subsidiary of 

Capital One Financial Corporation. 
 

COUNT I 
Declaratory Judgment of NonInfringement of Patent 

34. ING Bank incorporates the foregoing paragraphs by reference as though set forth 

fully herein. 

35. In light of LBSI Texas’ filing of the Citgo Petroleum Amended Complaint against 

ING Direct Bancorp, alleging infringement of the ’956 patent “by making and/or using in the 

United States the computer implemented website http://home.ingdirect.com/”, an actual, 

substantial and continuing justiciable controversy having adverse legal interest of sufficient 

immediacy and reality to warrant the issuance of a declaration of rights by this Court has arisen 

and now exists between ING Bank and LBSI Texas concerning alleged infringement of the ’956 

patent. 

36. ING Bank has not infringed, and does not infringe, directly or indirectly, any 

valid claim of the ’956 patent. 
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37. Thus, ING Bank is entitled to a declaration that it has not infringed, and does not 

and will not infringe, any valid claim of the ’956 patent. 
 

COUNT II 
Declaratory Judgment of Invalidity of Patent 

38. ING Bank incorporates the foregoing paragraphs by reference as though set forth 

fully herein. 

39. In light of LBSI Texas’ filing of the Citgo Petroleum Amended Complaint against 

ING Direct Bancorp, alleging infringement of the ’956 patent “by making and/or using in the 

United States the computer implemented website http://home.ingdirect.com/”, an actual, 

substantial and continuing justiciable controversy having adverse legal interest of sufficient 

immediacy and reality to warrant the issuance of a declaration of rights by this Court has arisen 

and now exists between ING Bank and LBSI Texas concerning the invalidity of the claims of the 

’956 patent. 

40.  The claims of the ’956 patent are invalid for failure to comply with the 

requirements of patentability as specified in 35 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., including, without limitation, 

35 U.S.C. §§ 101, 102, 103, and/or 112, and/or based on other judicially-created bases for 

invalidation. 

41. Thus, ING Bank is entitled to a declaration that the claims of the ’956 patent are 

invalid. 
 

PRAYERS FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff ING Bank prays for: 

(a)  A Declaration that the ’956 Patent is invalid or unenforceable; 

(b)  A Declaration that ING Bank does not infringe any valid claim of the ’956 Patent; 

(c)  A determination that this is an exceptional case under 35 U.S.C. § 285; 

(d)  An award to ING Bank of its costs and attorneys’ fees; 
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(e)  Such other relief as this Court or a jury may deem proper and just under the 

circumstances.  

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 
 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Dated:  June 21, 2012    By: /s/ Sheila Raftery Wiggins  
       Sheila Raftery Wiggins, Esq. 
       DUANE MORRIS LLP 
       One Riverfront Plaza 
       1037 Raymond Blvd, Suite 1800 
       Newark, NJ 07102 
       Tel: (973) 424-2000 
       Fax: (973) 424-2001 
       Email: srwiggins@duanemorris.com 
 

Samuel W Apicelli 
swapicelli@duanemorris.com 
James L Beausoleil , Jr 

       jlbeausoleil@duanemorris.com 
DUANE MORRIS LLP 
30 South 17th Street 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 
(215) 979-1000 (phone) 
(215) 979-1020 (facsimile) 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF ING 
BANK, FSB 
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LOCAL CIVIL RULE 11.2 CERTIFICATION 
I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, the matter in controversy is the subject of 

another pending or anticipated litigation in any court or arbitration proceeding, and I identify the 
other litigation as:  

 
 ING Bank, fsb v. LBS Innovations, LLC, No. 1:12-cv-00717-RGA, District of 

Delaware (filed in June of 2012). 
 Microsoft Inc. v. LBS Innovations, LLC, No. 2:12-cv-00848-CCC-JAD, District of 

New Jersey (filed in February of 2012).   
 LBS Innovations, LLC v. Citgo Petroleum Corp. et al.,  No. 2:11-cv-00408-MHS-

CMC, Eastern District of Texas (filed in September of 2011) 

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, there are not any non-parties known to 
Plaintiffs that should be joined to this action. In addition, I recognize a continuing obligation 
during the course of this litigation to file and to serve on all other parties and with the Court an 
amended certification if there is a change in the facts stated in this original certification. 
 

/s/ Sheila Raftery Wiggins  
 
 

LOCAL CIVIL RULE 201.1 CERTIFICATION 
I hereby certify that the above-captioned matter is not subject to compulsory arbitration 

in that declaratory and injunctive relief is sought. 
 

/s/ Sheila Raftery Wiggins  
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lNG Bank, FSB

New Castle County (DE)

Sheila Raftery Wiggins, Esq., DUANE MORRIS LLP, One Riverfront
Plaza, 1037 Raymond Blvd, Suite 1800, Newark, NJ 07102-5429, Tel:
(973) 424-2000, Email: srwiggins@duanemorris.com

LBS Innovations, LLC

Travis County (TX)

28 U.S.C. § § 1331, 1338(a), 2201 and 2202

Declaratory judgment of patent invalidity and noninfringement of patent

Claire C. Cecchi 2:12-cv-00848-CCC-JAD

06/21/2012 /s/ Sheila Raftery Wiggins, Esq.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

MARSHALL DIVISION 
 

 
LBS INNOVATIONS LLC, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
CITGO PETROLEUM CORPORATION, et 
al., 
 
  Defendants. 

 
 
 

Civil Action No. 2:11-cv-408-MHS 
 

Jury Trial Demanded 
 

 
  

PLAINTIFF’S FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

 
Plaintiff LBS Innovations LLC files this Complaint against Citgo Petroleum Corporation; 

Dave & Buster’s, Inc.; The Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea Company, Inc.; Ace Hardware 

Corporation; Supervalu Inc. d/b/a Acme Markets; Bank of the West; Dollar General Corporation; 

Family Dollar Stores, Inc.; Food Lion LLC; Hy-Vee, Inc.; ING Direct Bancorp Inc.; MasterCard 

Incorporated; Meijer, Inc.; Menard, Inc.; Wakefern Food Corporation d/b/a Shop Rite 

Supermarkets, Inc.; The Stop & Shop Supermarket Company; TD Bank US Holding Company; 

The TJX Companies, Inc. and TJ Maxx Inc.; Toys “R” Us, Inc.; Trader Joe’s; Union Bank N.A.; 

and Walgreen’s Co. (collectively the “Defendants”) and alleges as follows:   

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff LBS Innovations LLC (“LBSI”) is a Texas Limited Liability Company 

with its principal place of business at 815 Brazos Street, Suite 500, Austin, Texas  78701. 
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2. Defendant Citgo Petroleum Corporation (“Citgo”) is a corporation organized and 

existing under the laws of the State of Texas, with its principal place of business located at 1293 

Eldridge Parkway, Houston, Texas  77077-1670. Citgo has been served with process.   

3. Defendant Dave & Buster’s, Inc. (Dave & Buster’s”) is a corporation organized 

and existing under the laws of the State of Texas, with its principal place of business located at 

2481 Manana Dr., Dallas, Texas  75220-1203.  Dave & Busters has been served with process. 

4. Upon information and belief, Defendant The Great Atlantic & Pacific Tea 

Company, Inc. (“A&P”) is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 

New Jersey, with its principal place of business located at 2 Paragon Drive, Montvale, New 

Jersey  07645.  A&P may be served with process through its registered agent HSC Agent 

Services, Inc., 245 W. Chase Street, Baltimore, Maryland  21201. 

5. Upon information and belief, Defendant Ace Hardware Corporation (“Ace 

Hardware”) is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with 

its principal place of business located at 2200 Kensington Court, Oak Brook, Illinois  60523-

2100.  Ace Hardware may be served with process through its registered agent Lexis Document 

Services Inc., 211 East 7th Street, Suite 620, Austin, Texas  78701. 

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Supervalu Inc. d/b/a Acme Markets 

(“Acme”) is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with 

its principal place of business located at East View Innovation Center, 7075 Flying Cloud Dr., 

Eden Prairie, MN  55344.  Acme may be served with process through its registered agent CT 

Corporation System, 350 N. St. Paul Street, Suite 2900, Dallas, Texas  75201. 

7. Upon information and belief, Defendant Bank of the West (“Bank of the West”) is 

a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of California, with its principal 
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place of business located at 180 Montgomery Street, 25th Floor, San Francisco, California  

94104.  Bank of the West may be served with process through its registered agent CT 

Corporation System, 818 West Seventh Street, Los Angeles, California  90017. 

8. Upon information and belief, Defendant Dollar General Corporation (“Dollar 

General”) is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Tennessee, with 

its principal place of business located at 100 Mission Ridge, Goodlettsville, Tennessee  37072-

2171.  Dollar General may be served with process through its registered agent Corporation 

Service Company, 2908 Poston Avenue, Nashville, Tennessee  37203-1312. 

9. Upon information and belief, Defendant Family Dollar Stores, Inc. (“Family 

Dollar”) is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of North Carolina, 

with its principal place of business located at 10401 Monroe Road, Matthews, North Carolina  

28105.  Family Dollar may be served with process through its registered agent Leon Levine, 

10401 Old Monroe Road, Matthews, North Carolina 28201. 

10. Upon information and belief, Defendant Food Lion, LLC (“Food Lion”) is a 

corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of North Carolina, with its 

principal place of business located at 2110 Executive Drive, Salisbury, North Carolina  28144.  

Food Lion may be served with process through its registered agent Corporation Service 

Company, 327 Hillsborough Street, Raleigh, North Carolina  27603. 

11. Upon information and belief, Defendant Hy-Vee, Inc. (“Hy-Vee”) is a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, with its principal place of business 

located at 5820 Westown Parkway, West Des Moines, Iowa  50266.  Hy-Vee may be served with 

process through its registered agent Michael Jurgens, 5820 Westown Parkway, West Des 

Moines, Iowa  50266. 
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12. Upon information and belief, Defendant ING Direct Bancorp Inc. (“ING Direct”) 

is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with its principal 

place of business located at 1 South Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware  19801-5045.  ING 

Direct may be served with process through its registered agent Corporation Service Company, 

2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, Delaware  19801. 

13. Upon information and belief, Defendant MasterCard Incorporated (“MasterCard”) 

is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with its principal 

place of business located at 2000 Purchase Street, Purchase, New York  10577-2405.  

MasterCard may be served with process through its registered agent The Corporation Trust 

Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware  19801. 

14. Upon information and belief, Defendant Meijer, Inc. (“Meijer”) is a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Michigan, with its principal place of 

business located at 2929 Walker Avenue Northwest, Grand Rapids, Michigan  49544.  Meijer 

may be served with process through its registered agent The Corporation Company, 30600 

Telegraph Road, Suite 2345, Bingham Farms, Michigan  48025. 

15. Upon information and belief, Defendant Menard, Inc. (“Menard”) is a corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Wisconsin, with its principal place of 

business located at 5101 Menard Drive, Eau Claire, Wisconsin  54703.  Menard may be served 

with process through its registered agent John Menard, Jr., 5101 Menard Drive, Eau Claire, 

Wisconsin  54703. 

16. Upon information and belief, Defendant Wakefern Food Corporation d/b/a Shop 

Rite Supermakets, Inc. (“Shop Rite”) is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of 

the State of New Jersey, with its principal place of business located at 5000 Riverside Drive, 
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Keasbey, New Jersey  08832.  ShopRite may be served with process through its registered agent 

Joseph Colalillo, Chairman and CEO, c/o 5000 Riverside Drive, Keasbey, New Jersey  08832. 

17. Upon information and belief, Defendant The Stop & Shop Supermarket Company 

(“Stop & Shop”) is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, 

with its principal place of business located at 1385 Hancock Street, Quincy, Massachusetts  

02169.  Stop & Shop may be served with process through its registered agent The Corporation 

Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware  19801. 

18. Upon information and belief, Defendant TD Bank US Holding Company (“TD 

Bank”) is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with its 

principal place of business located at P.O. Box 9540, Portland, Maine  04112-9540.  TD Bank 

may be served with process through its registered agent Corporation Service Company, 2711 

Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, Delaware  19808. 

19. Upon information and belief, Defendants The TJX Companies, Inc. and TJ Maxx 

Inc. (collectively “TJ Maxx”) are corporations.  TJX Companies, Inc. is organized and existing 

under the laws of the State of Delaware, with its principal place of business located at 770 

Cochituate Road, Framingham, MA  01701.  TJ Maxx Inc. is a corporation organized and 

existing under the laws of the State of Massachusetts, with its principal place of business located 

at P.O. Box 500, One Mercer Road, Natick, Massachusetts  01760.  TJX Companies may be 

served with process through its registered agent The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation 

Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware  19801.  TJ Maxx, Inc. may be served 

with process through its registered agent CT Corporation System, 101 Federal Street, Boston, 

Massachusetts  02110. 
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20. Upon information and belief, Defendant Toys “R” Us, Inc. (“Toys ‘R’ Us”) is a 

corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with its principal 

place of business located at 1 Geoffrey Way, Wayne, New Jersey  07470-2066.  Toys R Us may 

be served with process through its registered agent Corporation Service Company, 2711 

Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, Delaware  19808. 

21. Upon information and belief, Defendant Trader Joe’s Company (“Trader Joe’s”) 

is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of California, with its 

principal place of business located at 800 South Shamrock Avenue, Monrovia, California  91016.  

Trader Joe’s may be served with process through its registered agent Sharon Ann Drabeck, 800 

South Shamrock Avenue, Monrovia, California  91016.  

22. Upon information and belief, Defendant Union Bank N.A. (“Union Bank”) is a 

corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of California, with its principal 

place of business located at 350 California Street, San Francisco, California  94104-1476.  Union 

Bank may be served with process through its registered agent David C. Reep, 500 North Akard, 

Suite 4200, Dallas, Texas  75201. 

23. Upon information and belief, Defendant Walgreens Co. (“Walgreens”) is a 

corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Illinois, with its principal place 

of business located at 200 Wilmot Road, Deerfield, Illinois  60015.  Walgreens may be served 

with process through its registered agent   Prentice Hall Corporation System, 211 East 7th Street, 

Suite 620, Austin, Texas  78701. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

24. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the 

United States of America, Title 35, United States Code. 
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25. This Court has original jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). 

26. Upon information and belief, each of the Defendants is subject to this Court’s 

general and/or specific personal jurisdiction because it (a) is a resident of the State of Texas; 

and/or (b) has designated an agent for service of process in the State of Texas; and/or (c) has 

committed acts of infringement in the State of Texas as alleged below; and/or (d) is engaged in 

continuous and systematic activities in the State of Texas.  Therefore, this Court has personal 

jurisdiction over each of the Defendants under the Texas long-arm statute, TEX. CIV. PRAC. & 

REM. CODE §17.042. 

27. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(c) and 1400(b).  On 

information and belief, each Defendant has a regular and established place of business in this 

district, and/or has transacted business in this district and has committed and/or induced acts of 

patent infringement in this district. 

THE PATENT-IN-SUIT 

28. On July 18, 2000, the United States Patent and Trademark Office issued United 

States Patent No. 6,091,956 (the “ʻ956 Patent”) entitled “Situation Information System,” a true 

copy of which is attached as Exhibit A. 

29. LBSI is the owner by assignment of the ‘956 Patent and owns all right, title and 

interest in the ‘956 Patent, including the right to sue for and recover all past, present and future 

damages for infringement of the ‘956 Patent. 

CLAIM 1 -- INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,091,956 

30. Defendant Citgo has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims of the 

‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using in the 
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United States the computer implemented website www.citgo.com, which has a store, dealer, or 

station location interface at http://www.citgo.com/Locator/StoreLocator.jsp.  

31. Defendant Dave & Buster’s has been and now is directly infringing one or more 

claims of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or 

using in the United States the computer implemented website www.daveandbusters.com, which 

has a store or dealer location interface at http://www.daveandbusters.com/locations/default.aspx.   

32. Defendant A&P Tea has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims 

of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using 

in the United States the computer implemented website www.apfreshonline.com, which has a 

store or dealer location interface at http://www.apfreshonline.com/pages_aboutUs_SL.asp. 

33. Defendant Ace Hardware has been and now is directly infringing one or more 

claims of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or 

using in the United States the computer implemented website www.acehardware.com, which has 

a store or dealer location interface at http://www.acehardware.com/mystore/storeLocator.jsp. 

34. Defendant Acme has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims of 

the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using in 

the United States the computer implemented website www.acmemarkets.com, which has a store 

or dealer location interface at 

www.acmemarkets.com/stores/searchstores?pageSource=findastore. 

35. Defendant Bank of the West has been and now is directly infringing one or more 

claims of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or 

using in the United States the computer implemented website www.bankofthewest.com, which 
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has a branch and/or ATM location interface at https://www.bankofthewest.com/customer-

service/branch-results.html?address=Enter+ZIP+or+City+and+State. 

36. Defendant Dollar General Corporation has been and now is directly infringing 

one or more claims of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by 

making and/or using in the United States the computer implemented website 

www.dollargeneral.com, which has a store or dealer location interface at 

http://www.dollargeneral.com/storeLocator/index.jsp;jsessionid=DCvnPX2TtTtT51Q72drjYQH

7vS7dg1Yh623xsF6vRxv6cnJMd2LT!-176795757. 

37. Defendant Family Dollar Stores, Inc. has been and now is directly infringing one 

or more claims of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by 

making and/or using in the United States the computer implemented website 

www.familydollar.com, which has a store or dealer location interface at 

http://www.familydollar.com/pages/store-locator.aspx. 

38. Defendant Food Lion has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims 

of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using 

in the United States the computer implemented website www.foodlion.com, which has a store or 

dealer location interface at http://www.foodlion.com/Stores. 

39. Defendant Hy-Vee has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims of 

the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using in 

the United States the computer implemented website www.hy-vee.com, which has a store or 

dealer location interface at http://www.hy-vee.com/storefinder/storefinder_results.asp. 

40. Defendant ING Direct has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims 

of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using 
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in the United States the computer implemented website http://home.ingdirect.com/, which has a 

ATM location interface at https://secure.ingdirect.com/myaccount/INGDirect/atm_locate.vm. 

41. Defendant MasterCard has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims 

of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using 

in the United States the computer implemented website www.mastercard.us, which has an 

ATMlocation interface at http://www.mastercard.us/cardholder-services/atm-locator.html. 

42. Defendant Meijer has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims of 

the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using in 

the United States the computer implemented website www.meijer.com, which has a store or 

dealer location interface at http://www.meijer.com/custserv/store_locator.jsp. 

43. Defendant Menards has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims of 

the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using in 

the United States the computer implemented website www.menards.com, which has a store or 

dealer location interface at http://www.menards.com/main/storeLocator.html. 

44. Defendant Shop Rite has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims 

of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using 

in the United States the computer implemented website www.shoprite.com, which has a store or 

dealer location interface at 

http://shoprite.mywebgrocer.com/StoreLocator.aspx?f=se&lcfo=4&cc=1&cc=1&s=aspx?f=se&l

cfo=4&cc=1&cc=1&s=199426950&g=d1d9aOb-7adl-407.  

45. Defendant Stop & Shop has been and now is directly infringing one or more 

claims of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or 

using in the United States the computer implemented website www.stopandshop.com, which has 
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a store, dealer, or station location interface at 

http://www.stopandshop.com/our_stores/locator/store_search.htm. 

46. Defendant TD Bank has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims of 

the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using in 

the United States the computer implemented website www.tdbank.com, which has a branch 

and/or ATM location interface at http://www.tdbank.com/net/locations.aspx. 

47. Defendant TJ Maxx has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims of 

the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using in 

the United States the computer implemented website www.tjmaxx.com, which has a store or 

dealer location interface at http://www1.tjmaxx.com/tjx/locator.asp. 

48. Defendant Toys “R” Us has been and now is directly infringing one or more 

claims of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or 

using in the United States the computer implemented website www.toysrus.com, which has a 

store or dealer location interface at http://www.toysrus.com/storeLocator/index.jsp. 

49. Defendant Trader Joe’s has been and now is directly infringing one or more 

claims of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or 

using in the United States the computer implemented website www.traderjoes.com, which has a 

store or dealer location interface at http://www.traderjoes.com/stores/index.asp. 

50. Defendant Union Bank has been and now is directly infringing one or more 

claims of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or 

using in the United States the computer implemented website www.unionbank.com, which has a 

branch and/or ATM location interface at http://blw.unionbank.com/search_results.php?blw-

search-input=Zip%20or %20city%2C%20State&Sl-branch&slbranch 
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51. Defendant Walgreens has been and now is directly infringing one or more claims 

of the ‘956 Patent, including Claim 11, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making and/or using 

in the United States the computer implemented website www.walgreens.com, which has a store 

or dealer location interface at 

http://www.walgreens.com/storelocator/find.jsp?tab=store%20locator&requestType=locator. 

52. As a direct and proximate consequence of the acts and practices of the Defendants 

in infringing, directly and/or indirectly, one or more claims of the ‘956 patent, LBSI has 

suffered, is suffering, and will continue to suffer injury and damages for which it is entitled to 

relief under 35 U.S.C. § 284 in an amount to be determined at trial. 

53. The limitation of damages provision of 35 U.S.C. § 287(a) is not applicable to 

LBSI. 

54. This case presents exceptional circumstances within the meaning of 35 U.S.C. 

§ 285 and LBSI is thus entitled to an award of its reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

55. LBSI, under Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, requests a trial by 

jury of any issues so triable. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, LBSI requests entry of judgment that: 

1. Defendants have infringed the patent-in-suit; 

2. Defendants account for and pay to Plaintiff all damages caused by their respective 

infringement of the patent-in-suit; and 

3. Plaintiff be granted pre-judgment and post-judgment interest on the damages 

caused to it by reason of one or more of Defendants’ patent infringement;  

4. The Court declare this an exceptional case and that Plaintiff be granted reasonable 

attorneys’ fees in accordance with 35 U.S.C. § 285;  

5. Costs be awarded to Plaintiff; and  

6. Plaintiff be granted such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and 

proper under the circumstances.  
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Dated: April 27, 2012    Respectfully submitted,  
 
 

BUETHER JOE & CARPENTER, LLC 
 
By: /s/ Niky Bukovcan   

Christopher M. Joe (Lead Counsel) 
State Bar No. 00787770  
Chris.Joe@BJCIPLaw.com   
Eric W. Buether  
State Bar No. 03316880  
Eric.Buether@BJCIPLaw.com  
Brian A. Carpenter  
State Bar No. 03840600  
Brian.Carpenter@BJCIPLaw.com   
Mark D. Perantie  
State Bar No. 24053647 
Mark.Perantie@BJCIPLaw.com   
Niky Bukovcan 
State Bar No. 24078287 
Niky.Bukovcan@BJCIPLaw.com 
Monica Tavakoli 
State Bar No. 24065822 
Monica.Tavakoli@BJCIPLaw.com 
 
1700 Pacific Avenue  
Suite 4750  
Dallas, Texas 75201  
Telephone:  (214) 466-1278 
Facsimile:  (214) 635-1831 

 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF  
LBS INNOVATIONS LLC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

The undersigned hereby certifies that all counsel of record who are deemed to have 
consented to electronic service are being served with a copy of this document via the Court’s 
CM/ECF system per Local Rule CV-5(a) on this 27th day of April, 2012.  Any other counsel of 
record will be served by facsimile transmission and first class mail. 

 
/s/ Niky Bukovcan     
Niky Bukovcan 
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company in the State of Texas. See Exhibit A. LBSI New Jersey assigned its 

entire right, title, and interest in the '956 Patent to LBSI Texas on February 15, 

2012. See Exhibit B. LBSI Texas has no business operations, offices, or 

employees in New Jersey and conducts business according to the laws and 

regulations of the State of Texas. Declaration of Timothy Salmon ("Dec. of 

Salmon") at~ 5. 

LBSI New Jersey has been dissolved and terminated and is no longer 

conducting business. See Exhibit C; Dec. of Salmon at~ 4. Microsoft amended its 

complaint on February 24, 2012, and joined in the action LBSI Texas and alleges 

that LBSI Texas was solely formed for the basis of fraudulently depriving this 

Court of Jurisdiction and that "the LBS New Jersey's assignment of the '956 patent 

to LBS Texas as a sham patent assignment executed solely to frustrate the Court's 

jurisdiction, to insulate LBS New Jersey from this Court's jurisdiction, and to 

avoid suit." Amended Complaint (Dkt. 6) at ~~ 18 and 22-23. Microsoft's 

allegations are untrue, as LBSI Texas has appeared in this case, has not objected to 

its joinder in this case, and the LBSI parties have not sought dismissal of this 

action based upon the assignment of the '956 Patent to LBSI Texas. 

The only allegation by Microsoft as a basis for subject matter jurisdiction in 

this case is the conclusory allegation that some unidentified number of its 

2 
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